RECEIVED

Apr 27 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION
W.C.C. FILE NO: 1206236**

Appellate Case No. 2019-001936

Jennie Cox,.....Appellant,

v.

**Palmetto State Transportation, Employer, and
Cherokee Insurance Company, Carrier,..... Respondents,**

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Adrienne L. Turner
P.O. Box 210638
Columbia, South Carolina 29221
(803) 467-8687
aturner@turnerlawsc.com
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED IN FAILING TO CONSIDER AND ASSIGN APPROPRIATE WEIGHT TO ALL OF THE AVAILABLE EVIDENCE IN DETERMINING THE EXTENT OF APPELLANT'S INJURIES, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, PROFFERED MEDICAL EVIDENCE OBTAINED AFTER THE INITIAL HEARING IN THIS MATTER IN ORDER TO ADDRESS COMMISSION CONCERNS REGARDING A PREVIOUSLY SUBMITTED MEDICAL REPORT.

- II. WHETHER THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO PERMANENT AND TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS AS A RESULT OF HER WORK-RELATED INJURIES?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was originally heard by Commissioner Aisha Taylor who, after a full hearing on the merits of the matter, issued an order finding the Appellant, Jennie Cox, to be permanently and totally disabled as a result of her work-related injuries. {ROA pg. 1-12} Respondents appealed from Commissioner Taylor's order. By Order dated May 21, 2018, the Full Commission reversed Commissioner Taylor's finding of permanent and total disability and remanded the case for further action. {ROA pg. 13-40} Rather than remanding the matter to Commissioner Taylor, the Full Commission instructed that the matter be heard on remand by a different Commissioner.¹ {ROA pg. 39} After a hearing on the matter, at which Appellant was allowed to offer only limited testimony, Commissioner Beck issued his order dated May 21, 2019 finding that, inter alia, Ms. Cox is entitled to permanent partial disability and lifetime medical benefits as a result of her injuries, but specifically finding that his award was limited in scope due to the mandates of the Full Commission Order. {ROA pg. 41-49} Appellant filed a

¹ Generally, the Full Commission remands cases, if at all, to the Single Commissioner who originally heard the matter. Here, however, the Commission expressly forbade Commissioner Taylor from hearing the case on remand despite the lack of any findings as to Commissioner Taylor being unavailable, disqualified, incapable, or unwilling to follow the Full Commission's directives on remand. Although Appellant does not posit that the Commission acted outside its authority in taking this extraordinary measure, it appears counter-intuitive, at the very least, that the Commission could effectively assign its authority as the ultimate finder of fact back to a different Single Commissioner. To be sure, the Commission's decision to do so in this case exacerbated procedural complexities already inherent to this matter₄

second timely appeal to the Full Commission. Following oral arguments, the Commission issued its order affirming Commissioner Beck's order. {ROA pg. 50-58} This appeal followed.

INTRODUCTION

It is undisputed that on May 31, 2012 Jennie Cox sustained extensive compensable injuries by accident arising out of and in the course of her employment with Palmetto State Transportation as a CDL truck driver. The accident occurred while she was on a delivery in Georgia, when she was removing freight; a machine fell on her, causing her to fall to the ground face-first, rendering her unconscious. As a result of the accident, she injured her head, teeth, mandible, left shoulder, neck and facial nerves. Further, as a result of the injuries Appellant has sustained, she suffers from worsening depression due to chronic pain and inability to maintain gainful employment, severe weight loss, and debilitating fatigue.

The facts and circumstances attendant to this case, including the medical records, psychological evaluations/independent medical evaluations, deposition and hearing testimony all support Appellant's position that she has been rendered totally and permanently disabled as a result of the injuries in question and that she is entitled to lifetime medical care.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ms. Cox is 67 years old, divorced and has two adult daughters. {ROA 349-352, 527-528} She graduated from Woodmont High School in 1970 and attended TEC, but did not graduate. {Id.} She obtained her Truck Driver's Class "A" license in 1985, and has worked in that capacity thereafter. {ROA 528-529} At the time of the accident, Appellant had worked for Employer for eleven (11) years. {ROA 603} Appellant reported that she had no prior physical

injuries and was in good health at the time of her injuries. {ROA 352, 536} She testified that she did suffer from pre-existing depression related to the death of her grandson who was killed at age 16 in a car accident. {ROA 540-541}

On May 31, 2012, Appellant was on a delivery in Georgia, when she was removing freight from her truck; a machine fell on her, causing her to fall to the ground face first knocking her unconscious. {ROA 529-530} She was rushed to Grady Memorial in Georgia and then brought by EMS to Greenville Memorial Hospital with injuries to her head, face, mouth and neck, left shoulder, chest, low back and problems breathing. {ROA 66-99, 105-107, 530-531} On June 1, 2012, James Fowler, M.D. performed extensive surgical intervention to address Appellant's injuries. {109-111} Records indicated he performed a bilateral subcondylar mandible fracture, left body comminuted mandible fracture, avulsed maxillary and mandibular teeth, maxillomandibular fixation with screws, open reduction and internal fixation left body mandible fracture and dental tooth extraction. {R. 109-111}

Appellant was subsequently seen by Stacey Newsom, M.D. at the Center for Health and Occupational Services for chest wall pain and left shoulder pain. {ROA 139-140} Dr. Newsome indicated chest wall contusions and left shoulder contusion with weakness and possible rotator cuff injury. {R. 140} Dr. Newsome instructed Appellant to continue with Lortab for pain, deep breathing exercises and imposed work restrictions limiting Appellant to sedentary work with a five (5) pound lifting restriction and prohibited her from operating commercial motor vehicle. {ROA 140}

Appellant had a follow-up with Dr. Fowler on June 11, 2012, after which Dr. Fowler opined that Appellant was to remain in a "levered and wired occlusion for one more week." {ROA 112} On July 5, 2012, Appellant underwent surgery to remove the IMG screws. {R. 114}

On July 6, 2012, Appellant underwent an MRI of the left shoulder at Innervision MRI &

Imaging with an impression of “degenerative changes and mild tendinopathy in the suprae and infraspinatus tendons.” On July 17, 2012, Appellant returned to Innervision for an x-ray of the chest with an impression of COPD without acute findings.{ROA 165} Appellant then returned to Dr. Newsome on July 17, 2012 to review the findings of the MRI and x-ray. {ROA 142} Dr. Newsome’s diagnosis was chest wall contusions resolving and left shoulder contusion improving. {ROA 142} Appellant was to continue the same restrictions with the additional restrictions ordered by Dr. Fowler. {ROA 142}

On July 24, 2012, Appellant began treating with Larry W. Cobb, D.M.D at Piedmont Oral Surgery to discuss surgical oral restoration.{ROA 308}Dr. Cobb noted Appellant had multiple jaw and teeth fractures and determined he would allow them to heal for an additional three months before attempting restorative procedures.{Id.} Dr. Cobb also ordered a CT for September and sought preauthorization for implants and restoration.{Id.}

Appellant again saw Dr. Newsome on August 7, 2012, at which point Dr. Newsome noted left shoulder weakness and tendinosis and chest wall contusion.{ROA 144} She recommended physical therapy for strengthening prior to return to full duty.{Id.} Dr. Newsome stated Appellant could return to work with restrictions of no lifting, pushing or pulling more than 15 pounds occasionally and no operating commercial motor vehicle.{Id.} Appellant started physical therapy with Proaxis Therapy on August 22, 2012 for her left shoulder pain.{ROA 167-250}

On August 28, 2012, Appellant went to her family doctor, Jennifer T. Ellis, M.D., for a follow-up.{ROA 252} Dr. Ellis noted that her depression and insomnia had been getting worse since her last visit and Appellant was also experiencing loss of appetite and loss of interest in pleasurable activities since her work related injury.{ROA 252}

On September 4, 2012 Dr. Cobb examined Appellant and stated she was healing well and

scheduled a CT. {ROA The CT scan on October 3, 2012 also showed she was healing well. Dr. Cobb referred her to Donald L. Ridgell, DM.D. for his evaluation. Appellant saw Dr. Ridgell on October 4, 2012, wherein Dr. Ridgell examined Appellant and agreed with Dr. Cobb that a full mouth extraction of Appellant's natural teeth with implant replacement was the best solution. {ROA 298-305} Dr. Ridgell further noted that he would continue to work along-side Dr. Cobb for the maintenance and upkeep of the implants. {ROA 305-306}

On October 30, 2012 Dr. Cobb opined that:

[Appellant had] a full work up including a physical examination CBCT evaluation to determine the best treatment necessary to restore her teeth for maximum function. {ROA 308} She has a very complicated case secondary to her normal petite size and small jaw. This has been further compromised by the very significant jaw injuries including multiple bone fractures and loss of teeth. Her remaining teeth are terminal due to the lack of bone support. These will all have to be removed. She has very minimal maxillary bone and will lose more when her teeth are removed. She will require extensive bone grafting before any definitive treatment can be achieved. Either one or both bone plates will need to be removed from the mandible before any treatment can be implemented there as well." {ROA 308}

Dr. Cobb set out the treatment plan in 5 stages with an estimated cost of \$34,215.00, not including the prosthetic work to be done by Dr. Ridgell. {Id.}

On November 5, 2012, Appellant saw Dr. Fowler for a follow up examination. {ROA 117} Dr. Fowler noted that Appellant had been seen by a prosthodontist and was scheduled for dental restoration. {Id.} He specifically noted that Appellant's nutrition has been affected in that she had to work to get enough nutrition in and was eating pureed food. {Id.} Dr. Fowler recommended a softer food diet and that Appellant maintain her nutrition as needed with calorie

supplements including Ensure or Carnation Instant Breakfast. {Id.}

Appellant was discharged from Proaxis on November 6, 2012, after completing 20 visits, to an independent home exercise program. {ROA 179-181} Following her discharge from physical therapy, she returned to Dr. Newsome on November 9, 2012. {ROA 162} Dr. Newsome opined that her left shoulder injury was at MMI with an impairment rating of the left shoulder of 2% and stated Appellant could return to work on November 9, 2012 without restrictions with regard to her left shoulder. {Id.}

On January 13, 2013, Appellant began her restoration with Dr. Cobb and progressed as follows:

- a) 01/13/13 bilateral sinus graft, removal of superior bone plate and surgical removal of teeth numbers 4, 6, 11, 21, 22, 26, 27, 28, 29;
- b) 04/29/13 surgical implant placement of teeth numbers 20, 23, 25, 27, 30; and
- c) 07/17/13 surgical implant placement of teeth number 3, 5, 6, 11, 12, 14.

{ROA 309-311}

During the process of her oral reconstructive surgery, Dr. Cobb referred Appellant to a nutritionist. {ROA 319} He stated that she is “**very malnourished**. The success of our treatment depends on her ability to heal. I believe that all of our treatment may be in jeopardy if her overall nutrition does not improve.”(Emphasis added) {Id.}

On July 15, 2013, Appellant returned to Dr. Ellis for a follow-up. Dr. Ellis stated Appellant was doing “about the same.” {ROA 255} Dr. Ellis further reported, *inter alia*, that: “[Appellant] is currently experiencing fatigue, weight loss of 25 pounds over the past year and loss of appetite. Appellant states she gets hungry and tries to eat but it hurts.” Dr. Ellis refilled her anxiety and insomnia medications of Alprazolam Oral 0.5 mg and Restoril Oral Capsule 30 mg. {Id.}

Upon her healing from the restoration surgeries, Appellant returned to work on August 12, 2013. Appellant testified that although she did her absolute best to perform her work duties in the same manner as before the accident, she continued to have difficulties and was never able to perform her duties as well as before she was injured. {ROA 532-542} Significantly, despite her commendable attempt to return to work, Appellant continued to experience pain, inability to maintain proper nutrition except through the use of nutritional supplements, and suffered from weaknesses, fatigue and inability to concentrate. {Id.}

On October 6, 2014, Appellant returned to the Center for Health & Occupational Services for reevaluation of her left shoulder. {ROA 161-162} Appellant was seen by Brian Svazas, M.D. and advised him that she was having some difficulties in the left shoulder with it being sore after long truck runs. {ROA 161-162}

Appellant also discussed difficulties with the left ear with intermittent hearing diminution. {Id.} Dr. Svazas advised that he believed the complaints she had in the left scapular border were likely related to her work injury to the shoulder. {Id.} He advised that physical therapy could help clear up some of the soft tissue areas. Dr. Svazas found her at MMI with a 6% left shoulder rating and opined that “she may need some ongoing therapy to this shoulder going forward.” {161-162}

Dr. Ridgell opined on April 9, 2015 that Appellant will need future medical care by way of “maintenance procedures annually- more expensive than natural teeth, replace or refurbish appliances every 6-8 years and oral surgeon visit in 5 years for radiograph/CT scan.” {ROA 306} Dr. Ridgell continues to see Appellant every 6 months.

Appellant last saw Dr. Cobb on April 27, 2015 where he released her to MMI with the following impairment ratings: 15%- diet limited to soft or semi solid foods, 85% of normal function, 4% interincisal range of Motion- 30mm, 3% lateral excursion range of motion 0 5-6mm,

2% facial disorder- scar, 1% nerve disorder- permanent numbness of lower lip and chin on left side, for a 25% whole person. {ROA 336} He also stated that she will need prosthetic maintenance and replacement. {Id.}

Appellant continued to have pain in her jaw and returned to Dr. Fowler on June 8, 2015 and again on June 15, 2015 with draining sinus to the left jaw in the region of a previous ORIF and plate and screw placement for a compound fracture of an atrophic mandible. {ROA118-121} Appellant went out of work again on June 20, 2015 due to these issues and, on July 5, 2015, Dr. Fowler performed surgery for removal of the indwelling device of the mandibular bone along with removal of plate and screws, bone biopsy and bone grafting. {ROA 125}

Dr. Fowler released her to return to work, which Appellant did in August 2015. {ROA 128} Appellant had a follow-up appointment with Dr. Fowler on October 12, 2015, wherein Dr. Fowler stated “she has residual numbness from the left mental nerve that may be permanent.” {ROA 134-136} In October 2015, Appellant went from running team driving to single driving. {ROA553-554}

Throughout these surgeries for her mouth, Appellant continued to see Dr. Ellis for routine follow ups and prescription refills for her depression that continued to get worse. At her appointment on March 3, 2016, Dr. Ellis noted that since Appellant has gone to single driving, it was physically and mentally wearing her out. {ROA 277-278} Dr. Ellis further noted it was still uncomfortable for her to eat as her- “teeth not lined up” and that Appellant had lost a significant amount of weight as a result. {Id} Dr. Ellis took her out of work until she could gain some weight. {ROA 279} Appellant went to her dentist, William A Cofer, D.M.D. on April 14, 2016 to get his opinion as to the pain she continues to have chewing and eating her food. {ROA 339} Dr. Cofer opined “I believe the reason she is having difficulties chewing and eating is due to the numbness on the left side of her lower jaw. She has had a loss of sensation since her

accident....Unfortunately; it is unlikely that she will regain any meaningful sensation due her accident.” {ROA 339} Over the next several months, Appellant was able to show good weight improvement and return to work on June 1, 2016. {557-558} However, Appellant testified she did not experience a corresponding return at her pre-accident strength. {535-539} In fact, Appellant indicated her lack of strength, consistent fatigue and inability to maintain concentration rendered truck driving an unsafe occupation for her to continue. {ROA 544} She testified credibly and without challenge from the Employer that she had conveyed her concerns to her supervisor and he indicated that the company would not be comfortable accepting the liability implications stemming from her symptoms. {ROA 544-545} Appellant did not receive temporary total benefits for this period of time she was out of work.

Appellant ran nonstop runs for a few weeks with constant pain over her entire body. {ROA 537, 568-570} On June 14, 2016 she notified the Employer that she was in too much pain, could not work and needed additional treatment. {ROA 534-535}

While awaiting authorization for additional treatment from the Employer, Appellant’s attorney sent her for an Independent Medical Evaluation with Walter Grady, DO on July 21, 2016. {ROA 341-343} Upon physical examination of the Appellant and review of her prior extensive medical treatment history, Dr. Grady gave Appellant an impairment rating of 17% to the left upper extremity, 28% to left shoulder impairment and 10% whole person. {ROA 343}

Appellant’s attorney also scheduled a physiological and vocational evaluation with Robert E. Brabham, Ph.D. on August 8, 2016. {ROA 349-359} Dr. Brabham has opined that “she would be unable to effectively perform the essential duties in any gainful work activity.” {ROA 358-359} Although the weight to be properly accorded Dr. Brabham’s report was called into question at the initial appellate panel hearing, Dr. Braham subsequently issued a letter confirming his continued belief that he correctly assessed the Appellant’s condition and

inability to maintain gainful employment due to a combination of her work-related injuries. {ROA 378-379} Commissioner Beck determined he was not at liberty to consider Dr. Brabham's follow-up correspondence in light of the Full Commission's order; however, the correspondence has been proffered. {ROA 593}

Appellant sought treatment at the Wellness Center on her own on August 17, 2016, as she was in pain and Employer had not approved physical therapy as requested. {ROA 542-543} She was making progress at the Wellness Center and her primary care doctor, Dr. Ellis, opined that she should continue there. {ROA 390} Employer eventually authorized work hardening at CORA Rehabilitation. {ROA 296} Appellant completed treatment three (3) times a week for several hours for a total of 20 visits between October 24, 2016 and December 19, 2016 at CORA Rehabilitation. Notably, CORA's December 19, 2016 Functional Capacity Test results indicated Appellant is not able to perform several of the minimal material handling requirements for a truck driver. {ROA 383-384}

Appellant testified at the initial hearing, and has reiterated time and again, that she loved her job and wanted to continue working, however, due to the pain, weakness, fatigue and anxiety she experiences is not able to perform the job. {ROA 541-545} As well, Appellant also remains unable conduct her day-to-day living activities in the same manner as before her injuries.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act (APA) establishes the standard of judicial review of workers' compensation decisions. Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 534, 689 S.E.2d 615 (2010); Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Under the APA, an appellate Court can reverse or modify the decision of the Commission where the substantial rights of the

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