RECEIVED

Mar 07 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS COMPENSATION
COMMISSION

W.C.C. FILE NO. 1206236

Appellate Case NO. 2019- 001936

Jennie Cox, Employee

Appellant,

v.

Palmetto State
Transportation, Employer,
and Cherokee Insurance
Company, Carrier

Respondents,

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF
RESPONDENTS

George Gallagher
PO BOX 11669
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 748-2259
ggallagher@speed-seta.com
Attorney for Respondents

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

After Appellant stopped working in March 2016, she took several months off. During this period, she continued seeing her primary care provider, Dr. Ellis. Dr. Ellis had been Appellant's family doctor since at least 2011, including treatment for routine health maintenance and anxiety and depression diagnoses before Appellant's accident. Appellant returned to work again on or about June 1, 2016, before quitting two weeks later. Appellant never return to work again. *Dr. Ellis, nor any other doctor, wrote Appellant out of work or otherwise specifically opined Appellant is disabled*

*from working beyond June 2016.*³

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Judicial review of a Commission decision is governed by the S.C. Administrative Procedures Act (APA)- S.C. Code §1-23-380. The APA “mandates that the Commission take the evidence, judge the credibility and weight of that evidence, and from that judgement determine the facts of the case. Rogers v. Kunja Knitting Mills, Inc., 312 S.C. 377, 381, 440 S.E.2d 401, 403 (Ct. App. 1994). A reviewing court should affirm the Commission’s decision unless it is clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence in the whole record. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Under the ‘substantial evidence rule’ the Court may not substitute its judgement for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence. *id.* Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case; rather, it is evidence, when considering the record as whole, allows reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion as the Commission. Gattis v. Murrells Inlet VFW No. 10420, 353 S.C. 100, 576 S.E.2d 191 (Ct. App. 2002). The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the same evidence does not preclude the Commission’s findings from being supported by substantial evidence. Houston v. Deloach & Deloach, 378 S.C. 543, 663 S.E.2d 85 (Ct. App. 2008).

The Commission is the ultimate fact finder in workers compensation cases. Shealy v. Aiken County, 341 S.C. 448, 535 S.E.2d 438 (2000). The final determination of witness credibility and the

³ At her deposition on August 29, 2016, Claimant indicated that she wanted to return to work but she just needed “all over” therapy or “full body” therapy (Appendix p. 58), Palmetto, acting as a benevolent employer, agreed to pay for Claimant to attend a work-hardening program. Additionally, Claimant testified in her deposition that she thought being a solo driver contributed to her fatigue. On October 6, 2016, Palmetto offered her a job as a team driver following her completion work hardening. (Appendix p. 14) *Claimant never contacted Palmetto State again about driving again and never attempted to drive again for them even as a team driver.*

weight to be accorded evidence is reserved to the Commission. Brunson v. American Koyo Bearings, 395 S.C. 450, 718 S.E.2d 755 (Ct. App. 2011). In the case of expert evidence, “[e]xpert medical testimony is designed to aid the Commission in coming to the correct conclusion; therefore, the Commission determines the weight and credit to be given to the expert testimony. Tiller v. National Healthcare Center, 334 S.C. 333, 340, 513 S.E.2d 843, 846.

ARGUMENTS

Appellant appears to raise two broad issues regarding the Commission’s action in this case—one procedural and the other substantive. Regarding the former, Appellant essentially contends the Commission erroneously complicated the adjudication of this case via the Panel’s remand to a jurisdictional hearing commissioner for entry of a PPD award following the Panel’s denial of Appellant’s PTD claims. Appellant also contends that the jurisdictional commissioner, as well the Panel on appeal and review of the PPD award, erred by excluding medical and other expert reports generated after the original evidentiary record was closed and by failing to order further psychological evaluation/treatment. Respondents submit that the procedure employed by the Commission was in accordance with the Act and Commission regulations. As such, the Commission’s Order was not based upon an unlawful procedure and its award was not otherwise affected by an error of law. *See* S.C. Code §1-23-380 (5) (“[t]he court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are: .. (c) made upon unlawful procedure; (d) affected by other error of law...”). Further, the jurisdictional commissioner and the Panel properly excluded Appellant’s proffered evidence because such evidence was immaterial and irrelevant to the issues specially before them at the respective times in question.

As for Appellant's substantive arguments, Respondents submit that substantial evidence in the Record supports the Commission's denial of her psychological and PTD claims. Specifically, the medical evidence fails to "connect the dots" between her compensable work injuries, her alleged malnourishment/weight loss, chronic fatigue, diffuse all over body pain, and her alleged disability. See S.C Second Injury Fund v. Liberty Mutual Ins. Co., 353 S.C. 117, 576 S.E.2d 199 (Ct. App. 2003) (the burden lies with claimant to demonstrate causation by a preponderance of the evidence) and Hall v. Desert Aire, Inc., 376 S.C. 338, 656 S.E.2d 753 (Ct. App. 2007) (a claimant has the burden of proving facts sufficient to allow recovery of compensation for disability under the Act). Moreover, the Commission correctly dismissed the clearly erroneous opinions of Appellant's psychological/vocational expert regarding both the medical causation and disability issues presented.

I. The Commission employed proper procedure for adjudication of this claim following remand by the Panel.

The Commission has broad discretion in procedural matters. Marquard v. Pacific Columbia Mills, 278 S.C. 323, 324, 295 S.E.2d 870, 871 (1982). Moreover, an administrative tribunal or quasi-judicial body is "allowed a wide latitude of procedure..." Hallums v. Michelin Tire Corp., 308 S.C. 498, 504, 419 S.E.2d 235, 239 (Ct. App. 1992).

- A. Commissioner Beck and the Panel properly denied Appellant's demands for further psychological evaluation and treatment because such relief was not permitted by the Panel's Order and the issue was already ruled upon by the Panel.

In this case, the Panel stated that it "REVERSES AND REMANDS the Decision and Order of the Hearing Commissioner dated May 23, 2017. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law set forth herein, shall become, and hereby are, the law of the case." (emphasis added). This action constitutes a complete reversal of Commissioner Taylor's entire Order, including her findings

regarding the alleged psychological injury. The clause “set forth herein” clearly refers to the Panel’s findings, which never included a finding that Appellant sustained a compensable psychological injury or aggravation. Rather, the Panel specifically made Finding of Fact #1 that “Claimant did sustain compensable injuries to her teeth, mandible, left shoulder, and facial nerve, as well as scarring to her chin.” Finding of Fact # 1 is the only finding regarding the scope of Appellant’s compensable injuries, which, again, does not include a finding of a compensable psychological injury. Likewise, the Panel’s remand instructions are equally crystal clear - “[t]he Hearing Commissioner should determine Claimant’s permanency award for her compensable injuries sustained because of her May 31, 2012 injury pursuant to this Order.” (emphasis added).

Despite the Panel’s clear findings and instructions, Appellant argues that the psychological issue still remained outstanding for Commissioner Beck’s consideration. However, this argument flies on the face of the Panel’s actual Order and procedural norms. It is elementary that the Panel is empowered to make its own findings and conclusions consistent or inconsistent with those of the single commissioner. McGuffin v. Schlumberger-Sangamo, 307 S.C. 184, 414 S.E.2d 162 (SC 1992). Upon review of a single commissioner’s Order and award, the panel may “reconsider the evidence, receive further evidence, rehear the parties or their representatives and, if proper, amend the award.” S.C. Code §42-17-50. Inherent in the Panel’s jurisdiction to “amend the award” is the authority to delegate the matter to a single commissioner for further findings if it so chooses. *See* S.C. Code §42-17-40 (“the commission or any of its members shall hear the parties at issue ... and shall determine the dispute in a summary manner.”) Further, WCC Regulation 67-707 (A) states “[w]hen additional evidence is necessary for the completion of the record in a case on review the Commission may, in its discretion, order such evidence taken before a Commissioner.” Next, when

an appellate tribunal remands a case, the lower tribunal has only the jurisdiction and authority mandated by the higher tribunal. Prince v. Beaufort Memorial Hospital, 392 S.C. 599, 709 S.E.2d 122 (Ct. App. 2011). Therefore, matters heard and decided by the higher tribunal cannot be reheard, reconsidered, or relitigated in the lower tribunal. Ackerman v. McMillan, 324 S.C. 440, 477 S.E.2d 267 (Ct. App. 1996).

For these reasons, Commissioner Beck properly concluded he had no jurisdiction or authority on remand to award relief on an issue already decided by the Panel. The Panel's denial of Appellant's claims of a psychological injury and PTSD were *res judicata* as to all further proceedings before the Commission following remand. In sum, the Commission's award was not affected by an error of law warranting reversal.

B. Commissioner Beck properly excluded evidence generated after the original Record before the Panel because such evidence was irrelevant to the scope of his review and jurisdiction per the Panel's remand instructions.

Again, the Panel remanded this case to the jurisdictional hearing commissioner solely for a determination of Appellant's entitlement to PPD compensation per S.C. Code §42-9-30 and WCC R. 1101 for the body parts/conditions it specifically found compensable- the left shoulder, mandible, facial nerve, loss of teeth, and scarring/disfigurement to the chin. Obviously, only evidence relevant to that determination would be admissible at the Hearing before Commissioner Beck, including evidence in the already existing record. The evidence Appellant proffered consists of an Addendum to her expert's vocational report and medical records from her primary care provider regarding her alleged psychological condition that were generated after the Record was closed for the Panel's initial determination.

First, the excluded addendum from Dr. Brabham desperately seeks to rehabilitate numerous factual misstatements and dubious conclusions made in his original report that the Panel concluded was erroneously relied upon by Commissioner Taylor for her award of permanent and total disability. [See Full WCC Order}. Appellant's argument that Dr. Brabham's addendum was only generated to "address the Commission's concerns" (See Claimant's Brief p.14) does not pass the smell test. The Panel did not find Dr. Brabham's initial report to be equivocal or request any clarifications on the issues he addressed in accordance with WCC Regulation 67-707 (A) ("[w]hen additional evidence is necessary for the completion of the record in a case on review the Commission may, in its discretion, order such evidence taken before a Commissioner"). Rather, the Panel's initial Order was very clear regarding what little credence it was giving Brabham's report. Evidence manufactured specifically to counter an unfavorable ruling after the fact is *per se* inadmissible because it clearly does not qualify in any respect as newly discovered evidence. See WCC Regulation 67-707 (C)(2).

Next, Dr. Brabham's attempt to bolster his opinion regarding Appellant's total vocational disability under S.C. Code §42-9-10 is irrelevant to a determination of Appellant's entitlement to scheduled PPD benefits under S.C. Code §42-9-30 and WCC Regulation 67-1101. See Stephenson v. Rice Services, 323 S.C. 113, 473 S.E.2d 699 (SC 1996) (with scheduled disability injuries the compensation award depends on the character of the injury rather than loss of earnings or other vocational factors). Likewise, the excluded evidence from Appellant's primary care provider purportedly seeks to bolster her psychological claim. As such, this evidence is only relevant to an issue already decided by the Panel. The Panel entered its own findings and conclusions denying the alleged psychological claim that became the law of the case on remand, including instructions for the jurisdictional commissioner to enter PPD awards. Therefore, the Commissioner and the Panel

properly exclude this evidence as irrelevant and immaterial.

Next, Dr. Brabham's Addendum to his vocational assessment was irrelevant to the determination of Appellant's entitlement to PPD awards pursuant to S.C. Code §42-9-30 and WCC R. 67-1101 in accordance with the Panel's remand instructions to Commissioner Beck. Under the "medical model" of compensation under § 42-9-30 where disability is presumed, the nature and character of the injury controls the amount of the award. *See Stephenson v. Rice Services*, 323 S.C. 113, 473 S.E.2d 699 (SC 1996) (with scheduled disability injuries the compensation depends on the character of the injury rather than loss of earnings and other vocational factors). For this reason, Commissioner Beck and the Panel did not err in failing to admit the report.

Finally, Appellant was collaterally estopped from relitigating the issues of permanent and total disability and compensability of her alleged psychological claim before the Panel following Commissioner Beck's entry of PPD awards. *See Robert E. Lee & Co. v. Commission on Public Works*, 250 S.C. 394, 158 S.E.2d 185 (1967) (when a party makes the same arguments it made in a former appeal, the decision in the former appeal is the law of the case); *See also Higgins v. Winn-Dixie*, 252 S.C. 353, 166 S.E.2d 297 (1969) (an appellate court's findings from a previous appeal in the same case is the law of the case). If she cannot get a second bite at the proverbial apple before the Panel, it is manifestly self-evident she cannot relitigate the PTD and psychological issues before a single commissioner. *Ackerman v. McMillan supra* (matters decided by a higher tribunal cannot be reheard, reconsidered, or relitigated by the lower tribunal). Therefore, the Commission did not err by failing to consider the proffered evidence.

C. Commissioner Beck properly awarded Appellant PPD benefits in perfect accord with the Panel's remand instructions and the Panel properly affirmed same.

As noted previously, the Panel clearly outlined the extent of Commissioner Beck's authority on remand- enter PPD awards per §42-9-30 and WCC R. 67-1101 for "loss of use" of the mandible, teeth, facial nerve, and shoulder, and compensation for scarring/disfigurement to Appellant's chin. Pursuant to the Panel's specific instructions, Commissioner Beck properly concluded he was not empowered to reconsider the issue of permanent and total disability or the alleged psychological claim. Appellant's arguments that Commissioner Beck improperly limited the scope of the remand Hearing and/or unlawfully constrained Appellant's recovery, are patently without merit. Ackerman supra. Commissioner Beck simply followed the Panels' directives in accordance with its Order.

The only issue the Panel properly considered in the Review Hearing of Commissioner Beck's award was whether he followed the Panel's remand instructions. Based on her Form 30 Petition for Review, Grounds for Appeal, and Brief to the Commission, Appellant did not dispute the actual amounts of Commissioner Beck's PPD awards. As such, his findings in support of such are not subject to further review. Green v. City of Columbia, 311 S.C. 78, 427 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 1993) (only issues contained within the application for review are preserved for appeal to the Full Commission and the findings of fact and law by the hearing commissioner are the law of the case unless within the scope of the appellant's exceptions). Moreover, issues raised on appeal, but not argued in the Brief, are deemed waived or abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court. Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership, 312 S.C. 102, 439 S.E.2d 283 (Ct. App 1993). Therefore, the Commission properly affirmed Commissioner Beck's scheduled disability awards.

II. Substantial evidence in the Record supports the Commission's denial of Appellant's permanent and total disability claims.

Simply put, Appellant has failed to meet her burden of connecting the proverbial dots between

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